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To Pippa and to the memory of my grandmother Ruth Bull Rathbone, who gave me Florida.











Did any of these people know what they were doing—could any of them see even an inch beyond their own affairs, or realize what hopelessly inconspicuous, enormously unimportant atoms they were in that great surging sea that was modern America?


—T. H. WEIGALL, Boom in Paradise
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INTRODUCTION


At high tide on the clear morning of January 10, 1926, to the squalling of circling gulls, the Prinz Valdemar, a five-masted steel-hulled barkentine, weighed anchor. With the help of two tugboats, she prepared to navigate the narrow channel known as Government Cut that led into the turning basin of Miami Harbor. Her captain and crew of eighty were understandably impatient: they had waited ten days for their turn to be towed into the crowded harbor. Many of the crew stood at ease at her deck railings and watched the tugs at work. As they knew well, the Prinz Valdemar was a dinosaur of the great age of sailing ships and, at 241 feet long, likely the largest vessel ever to enter the channel. Built in Denmark in 1891, she had weathered many transatlantic crossings and countless storms at sea until the outbreak of World War I, when the German navy deployed her as a blockade runner. In a later incarnation, she had hauled sacks of coconuts up from Nicaragua. The plan now was to convert her into a floating hundred-room hotel to help meet the acute housing shortage in Miami, which, like the rest of Florida, was in the midst of an epic building boom.


Thirty-six other ships, mostly steamships and schooners, already jammed the inner harbor, vying for berths and wharf space to unload their cargos of building supplies. The steamers were tied up three deep at the city piers. An additional thirty-one ships lay at anchor outside the harbor, awaiting their turn to enter, loaded with enormous amounts of lumber—millions of feet, by one estimate—to say nothing of the wallboard, plumbing fixtures, and roofing materials destined for various construction projects up and down the coast.


Precluded from entering the port, passenger ships arriving from Havana, New York, and as far away as San Francisco had resorted to anchoring off the coast and ferrying their passengers ashore on launches and tenders. At night, with their rigging lit, the forest of masts and rows of bright portholes suggested an ethereal, glittering city bobbing on the horizon.


But nothing seemed more fantastical than what was actually happening onshore. From the deck of the Valdemar, the crew could see the skeletons of a dozen new steel and concrete skyscrapers sheathed in scaffolding and jutting into the sky, creating a new urban skyline where only one multistory structure had existed just eighteen months before. Three tall hotels along the bay-front area of downtown Miami—the Columbus, the Watson, and the Everglades—were framed in steel girders but remained unfinished. Behind them rose the Meyer-Kiser Bank Building on Flagler Street, also still under construction, and the three-towered McAllister Hotel. Tallest of them all was the recently completed Miami Daily News Building a few blocks north. The year before, the newspaper had set a world record when it published a 504-page edition in twenty sections, loaded with real estate ads and weighing 7.5 pounds—requiring fifty railcars full of newsprint to produce. To celebrate its unprecedented success, the paper had built this twenty-six-story skyscraper and crowned it with an elaborate tiered bell tower modeled on the Giralda tower that sits atop Seville Cathedral in southern Spain.


Pandemonium raged on Miami’s city streets—and on the streets of all the new cities and towns that had sprung up along both coasts of Florida during that decade. “My first impression, as I wandered out into the blazing sunlight of that bedlam that was Miami, was of utter confusion,” remembered Theyre Hamilton Weigall, a twenty-four-year-old Australian-born, London-based journalist who arrived in Florida by train at the peak of the boom and stood stunned among the screeching motor horns and the deafening cacophony of rivet guns, drills, and hammers. “Hatless, coatless men rushed about the blazing streets, their arms full of papers, perspiration pouring from their foreheads,” he recalled. “Every shop seemed to be combined with a real estate office; at every doorway, crowds of young men were shouting and speech-making, thrusting forward papers and proclaiming to heaven the unsurpassed chances they were offering to make a fortune.… Everybody in Miami was real estate mad.”


Building projects in the Greater Miami region totaled $103 million in 1925 ($1.5 billion in today’s money), a huge figure for the day. But an embargo imposed by the Florida railroads in September 1925 had compounded the chaos and overcrowding in the harbor and on the city’s streets. Lacking the requisite warehousing, logistics, and labor, the railroads had been overwhelmed by the avalanche of building materials pouring into the state. Until order could be restored, the tracks repaired, and new warehouses built, all cargo into Florida was now banned, except fuel and perishables. A milk bottle shortage emerged; ice had to be rationed; local cows, deprived of feed, began to starve. By year-end 1925, thousands of railroad cars were backed up in Jacksonville and other gateways to the state.


One enterprising businessman tried to smuggle in a railcar full of building bricks under a layer of ice, in the guise of a shipment of lettuce. Others tried to move their supplies in by steamship and schooner, and when that didn’t work, by truck, clogging the highways in and out of the state—highways still rough and already jammed with automobiles, all bound for the new promised land of Florida, dubbed the last American frontier. Adding to the chaos at the piers and railroad stations were the endless stacks of crates, the beginnings of what would be a record citrus crop bound for northern markets—but at the moment, going nowhere. The Miami dockworkers seized on the demand for their services to strike for better wages—60 cents per hour, up from 45 cents. Soon thereafter 1,800 telegraphers went on strike, too, hampering communications.


Nowhere was the speculation as feverish as it was along the waterfront of Dade County, where prices for bare plots of land were doubling and tripling, seemingly overnight, including those that had yet to be dredged from the bays. As property values exploded, the speculation extended to the selling and reselling, numerous times in a day, of paper options on these parcels. Land sales caused small riots where crowds literally threw checks at the developers—in such numbers that they had to be collected in barrels. Seminole Beach was bought for $3 million one day, then sold three days later for $7.6 million. One Miami real estate office sold $34 million worth of real estate in a single morning.


But the construction boom in Florida was by no means limited to the coasts. Countless inland communities were under development as well. In addition to the celebrated subdivisions of Miami Beach, Coral Gables, Boca Raton, and Davis Islands were literally hundreds of others—by one estimate, 970—of varying sizes around the state with names that evoked garden-like settings or tropical Spanish paradises, such as Jungle Terrace, Altos del Mar, Opa-Locka, and Rio Vista Isles.


Many of these developments were being built around golf courses that were a major selling point in every resort’s lavish brochure. In fact, the state was on its way to boasting the world’s largest concentration of golf courses, a distinction it holds to this day. In all likelihood, some twenty million lots were for sale across Florida. As Willard A. Barrett, a writer for the financial publication Barron’s, noted, to occupy them all would require a Florida population of sixty million—or roughly half the existing population of the United States at that time. Problematically, Florida, by the late 1920s, had only one and a half million residents, although that was up 50 percent from the start of the decade. Nevertheless, that didn’t discourage outsiders from spending more than $1 million per day to buy up Florida property in 1925. By then, the Florida land boom had evolved into a historic investment frenzy. Barron G. Collier, who had purchased more than a million acres in southwestern Florida—a parcel larger than the state of Rhode Island—very likely became the nation’s first billionaire, at least on paper, when the value of his Florida holdings spiked during this period. “Something is taking place in Florida to which the history of developments, booms, inrushes, speculation, and investment yields no parallel,” reported the New York Times in March 1925.





As the Prinz Valdemar entered Government Cut, the Clyde Line ship George Washington, loaded with one hundred impatient passengers bound for New York, began to sound its ship’s whistle, announcing its intention to depart the harbor the moment the Prinz Valdemar had cleared the channel. At that moment, an accident occurred that seemed foreordained. Someone ignored a command, or missed a signal, or a gust of wind blew in from offshore, or the tide shifted—no one could be entirely sure which of these factors was most responsible for the mishap that followed.


The huge gray-hulled sailing ship bumped up against a sandbar, swung sideways, and wedged itself across the mouth of the eighteen-foot-deep channel. As the tide began to recede, the weight of the outgoing seawater swung the giant keel out from under the vessel so that her cargo of supplies shifted. The old ship, her iron sides grinding, groaning, and creaking, capsized in a slow-motion pantomime that took an agonizing four minutes to play out, allowing her crew ample time to leap overboard into the lukewarm, blue-green waters of Biscayne Bay. As her five masts gradually genuflected, water rushed over her gunwales until she came to rest on her side, half submerged, so that she stoppered the channel like a cork in a bottle, preventing all but the smallest boats from passing in and out of the harbor.


Frantic efforts were made to right the great ship. Thick ropes called hawsers were cleated to her decks and hauled by the tugboats to try to pull her upright. When these efforts failed, a pair of dredging vessels were assigned to carve out an eighty-foot-wide temporary channel that could bypass around her. Both dredgers struck coral and broke down. A second vessel, the steamer Lakevort, tried to squeeze past the wreck only to run aground herself, further complicating the salvage operation.


Meanwhile, on board the George Washington, now trapped in the harbor, hysteria mounted. The governor’s office in Tallahassee was flooded with telephone calls and telegraphs demanding that Governor John Martin fire the harbormaster. Overnight all the frantic building construction up and down the East Coast was forced into a near-complete standstill. By now, the state’s entire transportation system—its rails, its roads, and its seaports; the infrastructure that built and sustained the great boom—was either clogged, stalled, or broken.


This forced recess gave developers a chance to review their projects. One by one, in offices across the state, they pulled out their drawings and their blueprints, their contracts and their budgets, and spread them out on their drafting tables to reconsider every nuance of their ambitious plans. A few of them, after doing so, decided that the prudent course of action was to pull back a little. In Wall Street parlance, they opted to take some of the risk off the table; but they would be the exceptions.





The 1920s are best remembered as the era of the flapper, jazz, the automobile, radio, Prohibition, and rum-running. But in isolation, perhaps nothing reflects better the spirit of this rollicking decade than the remarkable sequence of events that transpired in Florida. Impressive skyscrapers had been built before, and a few suburbs had been drawn up in places such as Shaker Heights, Ohio, but not on the colossal scale of what occurred in Florida during the twenties. Up and down both coasts, entire cities were mapped out, or platted, from scratch, with much of the land somehow dredged up out of swampland or sand, and sold, seemingly overnight, to the property-famished public.


The great Florida land boom would prompt the country’s greatest migration of people, dwarfing every previous westward exodus, as laid-off factory workers, failing farmers, disaffected office clerks—anyone unemployed or seeking a better quality of life—boarded southbound trains or climbed into their Tin Lizzies and made their way to this emerging land of opportunity, touted as a tropical paradise. Six million people flowed into the state in three years. In 1925 alone, an estimated two and a half million people arrived looking for jobs and careers, and, for a time, found them in the building trades. As one observer wrote: “All of America’s gold rushes, all her oil booms, and all her free-land stampedes dwindled by comparison with the torrent of migration pouring into Florida.”


Florida, which began the decade as America’s last frontier, would end the decade as the country’s most celebrated playground—and its favorite retirement destination. Furthermore, it quickly became the bellwether for every important social and economic development of the period, and has remained a bellwether ever since.


And yet historians and economists have largely overlooked the boom’s larger significance, specifically its direct impact on the severity and duration of the Great Depression that followed. Most cite the stock market crash of 1929 as the event that heralded the Depression. In fact, the bursting of the great Florida land bubble was the more pivotal event—the one that truly, if tragically, triggered the nationwide economic and social trauma that followed, and the one that helps explain why it lasted so long and was so devastating. The land boom, not the stock market, was the true catalyst for the disasters that befell the nation as overvalued housing and property prices everywhere began to collapse in the wake of the Florida debacle. The eroding economic fundamentals and collapsing consumer confidence finally reached Wall Street and pulled down the stock market, bringing an end to the frantic nationwide party so aptly named the Roaring Twenties.


In short, the great Florida land boom was one of the most consequential financial manias in US history, and yet to this day, it has never received the attention it deserves. One reason for this has been the paucity of economic data to fully explain the event—in particular, limited government statistics from the era relating to home prices, household wealth, and foreclosures. Another reason is that the significance of the boom has not been understood in a broad enough historical and business context. One goal of this book is to remedy those omissions and oversights. Another goal is to tell the story through the experiences of the characters who led the boom and were most responsible for its magnitude and repercussions.


The stars of the story are the handful of daring men who, eager for fame and wealth, took enormous risks to open up Florida for real estate development and then chased the boom to its ruinous conclusion. (Other than one rich widow on each coast, Florida’s developers at the time were all men.) Chief among these are “the uncrowned kings” of real estate: Carl Fisher in Miami Beach, Addison Mizner in Palm Beach and Boca Raton, George Merrick in Coral Gables, and David Paul “D.P.” Davis in Tampa and St. Augustine.


Fisher, a former bicycle racer still addicted to speed and excitement, chain-smoked cigars, often chewing off their butts and swallowing them. Sloppy, crude, and profane, he was also terrifically clever, with a genius for promotional gimmicks and publicity stunts. Mizner, the son of a diplomat, had previously prospected for Klondike gold in the Yukon and fought as a heavyweight boxer in Australia. An affable and eccentric bon vivant and raconteur, he collected Spanish religious relics and surrounded himself with a coterie of friends and animals—including a pair of Chows and a monkey that he carried around on his shoulder named Johnnie Brown. Merrick, by contrast, was an idealistic, ruggedly handsome part-time poet and churchgoing workaholic. For years, he had planned how to convert his father’s grapefruit orchards into an ideal city. And finally, the dapper, pencil-thin Davis was a former newsboy and shoe salesman. He had worked on the Panama Canal and operated a lucrative ferry concession in Jacksonville before becoming a real estate broker. Blindly driven, arrogant, and wildly overconfident, he appeared to possess the Midas touch.


All four of these men were daring gamblers, bold promoters, and consummate showmen. Each had grown exceptionally rich during the decade, accruing fortunes of between $50 million to $100 million, equivalent to $690 million to $1.38 billion in today’s dollars. But before long, each would find himself physically taxed and morally challenged. By the decade’s end, they would write the script for how flamboyant and hyperbolic real estate developers and promoters should, or could, behave.


One earlier player’s importance is such that he cannot be omitted from this narrative: the Gilded Age oil tycoon Henry Flagler. By creating the state’s first empire of railroads and resort hotels, he built the infrastructure backbone and provided the template for all of the madcap development that followed. Our story will begin with him, in St. Augustine, a few decades before the boom.


Nor is the historical record complete without mentioning the men and women who stood up for the preservation of Florida’s environment, which found itself under siege by dredgers, road builders, and property developers. Among these, none is more important than the author Marjory Stoneman Douglas, daughter of the editor in chief of the Miami Herald, who, during the twenties, came of age, built her house, and found her cause. She spent much of her long career doing everything in her power to protect Florida’s one-of-a-kind ecosystem and, in particular, its Everglades. The evolving understanding of the ecology of tropical wetlands during this period—of just how much environmental change these mangrove swamps, salt marshes, and wet grasslands could endure—is an integral aspect of Florida’s land boom, relevant today in light of the threats presented by global warming and rising sea levels that have put so much of the state’s wetlands, wildlife, and valuable real estate in peril.


The epic Florida land boom and its collapse—replete with its greed, excess, corruption, and comeuppance—also provides useful lessons for us today. In particular, it throws light on the threats posed by rampant speculation and overleveraging. But the boom’s underlying causes also merit study. Contributing mightily to the calamity at the end of the twenties were the loose lending standards across the country. Such lending was used in conjunction with two relatively new and suddenly popular financial instruments: home mortgages, which more than tripled in volume during the decade, and installment credit loans for the purchase of cars and home appliances, which more than doubled. They fueled the boom and pushed personal indebtedness to unsustainable levels. Corruption and fraud, too, would play their parts, especially in Florida, which quickly became the epicenter of the era’s property speculation, attracting gangsters, crooks, and double-dealing bankers. Finally, the story has import because the Great Depression was the most traumatic social and economic calamity in the nation’s history. Its staggering dimensions and devastating worldwide impact make it all the more vital that we understand its origins, if we are to avoid repeating our mistakes.





Back in Miami Harbor, it would take twenty-five days to dredge and dynamite a new channel and a full forty-two days to remove the Prinz Valdemar’s masts, pump out her hold, extract her $200,000 worth of ruined and water-soaked cargo, and then right her and refloat her. But when the ship was finally towed ashore and the channel cleared, the character of the boom had changed. Unbeknownst to the millions of Americans participating in the frenzy, the entire teetering, speculative housing house of cards in Florida and across the nation as a whole—much like the capsizing Prinz Valdemar—had begun to topple.
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One afternoon in early January 1878, a well-dressed middle-aged man with a walrus mustache and a handsome square head of graying hair stepped off the train in St. Augustine, Florida. His seven-year-old son, his twenty-two-year-old daughter, her husband, and his sickly wife stepped down after him. The family had made their ninety-hour journey from New York to Florida on doctor’s orders, looking for sunshine, warmth, and clean air to help the wife recuperate from tuberculosis. They had stopped for one night en route in Savannah, Georgia, to break up the long trip.


It was couple’s first holiday in many years, and the farthest they had ever been from Cleveland, where they had spent most of their married life, or from New York City, to which they had recently moved. They were Henry Morrison Flagler and Mary Harkness Flagler, and, thanks to Mary’s incurable illness, they lived a socially monastic existence: they rarely went out and never entertained. In the prior seventeen years, they had spent only two nights apart. Most nights, the Flaglers would sit at home, and he would read to her; or if she slept, he would sit up late, reading in a chair positioned just outside her bedroom so that he could hear her if she called out to him.


St. Augustine, the oldest city in the country, was reputed to boast Old World Spanish charm, which it did, but the best hotel there—really, the only adequate hotel—was noisy and ramshackle. Worse, it was filled with coughing consumptives, many of them confined to wicker wheelchairs. The couple found the accommodations disappointing and depressing. The establishment’s food, which consisted of canned meats and canned vegetables accompanied by an assortment of tarts and meringues, was virtually inedible. The young people in the party found nothing to do. The Flagler family stayed for only one night.


Apart from the northernmost counties that bordered Georgia and the nearly adjacent northern towns of Jacksonville and St. Augustine, Florida in the 1870s remained a largely unsettled and undeveloped wilderness of dense pinewoods, impassable palmetto jungle, and tangled mangrove swamps. Scraggly beards of gray Spanish moss hung from huge cypress trees and live oaks along the riverbanks. The farther south you went, the swampier the state became. A few tiny fishing villages had sprung up along the sandy coasts, but the vast interior was largely unexplored—a land of watery saw grass and shallow lakes and jungle hammocks where the bay laurel and myrtle competed with the oaks and the palmettos, and where bromeliads, or air plants, sprouted from the tree branches. The state could accurately be described at the time as America’s last frontier. Roads were virtually nonexistent. Stern-wheelers lazily plied the inland waterway between St. Augustine and Jupiter. The largest town was Key West, with its population of ten thousand, situated at the far end of a string of coral reef islands off the southern tip of the peninsula. Local industry consisted of a few lumber mills in the north, some early phosphate mines, and a smattering of citrus groves. A pair of failed coconut plantations had left a line of nonnative coconut palms swaying over the beaches along a stretch of the central coast.


Four years would pass before Henry Flagler returned to St. Augustine. When he did, it would be his turn to be ill and in need of recuperation. Fifty-two years old and widowed, he was recovering from a liver ailment that had hospitalized him in New York City the month before. During the intervening years, a number of changes had occurred in his life. Mary had died of her tuberculosis in May 1881. His son, Harry, eleven, was now being raised by an aunt back in New York. Flagler himself was semiretired from running the world’s largest and most profitable business enterprise, the monopoly known throughout the world as the Standard Oil Trust. Thanks to his founding stake in the business, Flagler had become stupendously wealthy.


Freed from caring for an invalid wife, freed from the obligations of parenthood, and freed from the burdens of running a vast and vilified enterprise, he was looking for something new to do with his free time and his giant fortune. He was about to find what he was looking for in St. Augustine—a new occupation and career—and it would lead to one of the most extraordinary second acts in American business history.





Henry Flagler was born in upstate New York in 1830, the son of a rural Presbyterian minister of German Palatine stock. At fourteen, he left home to join his older half brother, who was working at a general store run by a maternal uncle in Republic, Ohio. Quiet, shrewd, dutiful, and keenly attentive to detail, Henry showed a natural aptitude for business. By age thirty-one, married with one daughter, he had made the substantial sum of $50,000 ($1.1 million in today’s dollars) trading grain and selling alcohol. Impatient to make more, he rolled his entire stake into a salt manufacturing business in Saginaw, Michigan, hoping to take advantage of the Civil War boom in salt as a food preservative. Unfortunately, he and his partner entered the business too late and ran into ferocious competition in an industry that had overexpanded. When demand for salt evaporated at the end of the war, their company collapsed. Flagler lost his entire $50,000 and another $50,000 that he had borrowed from his in-laws, the Harkness family. He was forced to return to trading grain.


Two years later, his debts paid off, he entered the kerosene refining business, teaming up with an equally meticulous and ambitious young neighbor, eight years his junior, whom he knew from his early grain trading days. His new colleague’s name was John D. Rockefeller. Together with a third partner, an Englishman named Samuel Andrews, who was an expert in kerosene refining, the three formed the partnership of Rockefeller, Andrews, and Flagler. Once again, the Harkness family staked their son-in-law in the business, doubling their initial investment to $100,000. This time he did not disappoint them. He and his partners quickly consolidated the nascent Ohio kerosene and oil refining business, with a view to better controlling both price and supply. For the next fifteen years, Flagler and Rockefeller, who soon lived a few doors down from each other on fashionable Euclid Avenue in Cleveland, walked to and from work together, side by side, dressed in their silk top hats, long coats, and gloves, two well-heeled Victorian gentlemen intently discussing their shared enterprise. Theirs would remain, Flagler acknowledged, “a friendship founded on business rather than a business founded on friendship.” When the company relocated to New York City, Rockefeller and Flagler continued to live around the corner from each other on East Fifty-Fourth Street in Manhattan.


Today the business is understood to have been Rockefeller’s creation, and Flagler’s formative contribution has been largely forgotten. But it was Henry’s idea to consolidate the industry by buying up all of their small competitors, thus avoiding the fate that befell his salt venture. It was also his idea to secretly demand price concessions from the railroads (10 percent to 15 percent rebates in the early years, more in later years), in return for guaranteed shipments. These concessions allowed the partners to undercut their competition on price, forcing most out of business or into merger agreements with the fast-growing firm. And finally, it was his idea to create the secret trust structure that would allow the company to expand across state borders and combine with other large corporations. It was this last decision, implemented by the firm’s clever attorney, Samuel C. T. Dodd, that gave birth to the Standard Oil Trust, the greatest wealth creator the world had seen since the best days of the Dutch East India Company and the British East India Company in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.


Flagler’s innovations were easily the most significant contributions to the organization’s historic success—and Rockefeller knew it. When asked during testimony before Congress if it was his idea to form the oil trust, Rockefeller replied, “No, sir, I wish I’d had the brains to think of it. It was Henry M. Flagler.” As he admitted freely to others over the years, “The key to our success was Henry Flagler.”


By the time Flagler stepped back from the business in his early fifties to pursue other ventures—ones where he could have complete control—the Standard Oil Trust had a market capitalization of $154 million, or $4.1 billion in today’s money, and reigned as the world’s largest industrial enterprise. But its exponential growth had only just begun. When John D. Rockefeller, who stayed on in the business, finally retired from the company in 1918, the Standard Oil companies had paid him hundreds of millions in dividends and distributions. His stock holdings in the company made him the world’s richest man.


But even as early as the 1880s, controversy engulfed Standard Oil. The public judged it to be a tyrannical monopoly, ruthless and destructive; its management team, greedy and predatory. The muckraking reporter Ida M. Tarbell, whose father’s refinery had been steamrolled by the company, wrote a long and scathing exposé for McClure’s magazine, later published as a book in 1904 called The History of the Standard Oil Company that prompted several investigations, which in turn led Congress to pass the Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890.


The question that nagged at the government and the general public was a simple one: How corrupt were the Standard Oil founders? When examined under oath, they chose a campaign of silence and obfuscation, which only exacerbated their public relations problem. In one exchange in 1882, when advised by an investigating committee’s attorney that there was a rising tide of sentiment against the company, Flagler lost his composure:


“It suits me to go elsewhere for advice, particularly as I am not paying you for it!”


The government’s attorney was ready with a riposte.


“I am not paying you to rob the community, I am trying to expose your robbery.”


Robbery might have been an exaggeration, but collusion, skullduggery, and kickbacks were not. A few years later, documents revealed that in order to keep politicians in line and supportive of their enterprise, Standard Oil lent them money and made other “investments” in their careers. Let’s call these what they were: bribes. Such behavior was not unusual at this time, when everyday business practices, particularly those west of the more refined cities of New York, Philadelphia, and Boston, resembled a bare-knuckle brawl. Businessmen did what they felt was necessary to survive. Meanwhile, politicians were famously receptive to the largesse that came their way.


It is unlikely that Flagler felt any remorse for the actions he had taken at Standard Oil. Yet it must have been a relief for him to escape the press scrutiny and the controversy that enveloped the oil company. He clearly wanted to have more fun, too. A new woman in his life would make that possible. Her name was Ida Alice Shourds. She was pretty and blue eyed and possessed a profusion of red hair as well as a notoriously hot temper. A failed stage actress, she previously had been one of the caregivers for Flagler’s wife. Alice was also eighteen years his junior, socially ambitious, and not averse to spending his money.


For the first time in his adult life, Flagler went out to restaurants and to the theater. He rode horseback on his thirty-acre estate in Mamaroneck, New York, and raced trotters against his Standard Oil friends and colleagues. He even joined the Larchmont and New York Yacht Clubs and bought his first yacht, a fifty-foot sloop. As he told a companion in 1886, “For about fourteen or fifteen years, I have devoted my time exclusively to business, and now I am pleasing myself.”





St. Augustine in 1882 during Flagler’s second visit was no longer a town filled with consumptives. In fact, it had begun to attract society types, the class of men, remarked Flagler, “one might encounter in the great watering places of Europe.” However, there was still very little to do. Flagler found himself taking daily walks down narrow St. George Street, where the old colonial buildings on both sides featured crooked second-story balconies. He would continue around the Plaza de la Constitucion, and perhaps over to Castillo de San Marcos, the old Spanish fort on the waterfront, and then back to the hotel, passing along the route other gentlemen who were staying at his hotel, equally at a loss as to what to do with themselves.


Flagler would return to St. Augustine the following December, this time on his honeymoon, newly married to Alice. And he returned again the year after that. “I liked the place and the climate, and it occurred to me very strongly that someone with sufficient means ought to provide accommodations for that class of people who are not sick, who come to enjoy the climate, have plenty of money, but could find no satisfactory way of spending it.”


As it happened, he was just such a person. In the prior years, Flagler had discovered how much he enjoyed developing real estate. He had overseen the construction of Standard Oil’s first office tower in New York City: a handsome ten-story, eighty-six-foot-wide structure at 26 Broadway in Lower Manhattan (once the home address of Alexander Hamilton). He had also rebuilt his Mamaroneck estate on Long Island Sound in 1882, adding extensions and redecorating the forty-room frame house with, among other fixtures, massive brass and crystal chandeliers of his own design that weighed nearly one thousand pounds. He went so far as to construct a two-hundred-foot breakwater, importing sand to convert the rocky shoreline into his own private beach.


Now he had the architectural drawings for a massive world-class hotel that would offer state-of-the-art amenities. In keeping with the Spanish influence still evident in St. Augustine, the structure would be mostly Moorish in design. If all went well, Flagler would build the grandest resort hotel in the country, surpassing even Potter Palmer’s 1875 Palmer House Hotel in Chicago. His larger goal, he told a friend, was to turn St. Augustine into the Newport, Rhode Island, of the South.


He hired two young architects for the project: Thomas S. Hastings (the son of a close friend) and Hastings’s partner, Brazilian-born John Merven Carrère, both of whom had studied at the École des Beaux Arts in Paris and worked for the esteemed firm of McKim, Mead & White in New York. It was to be Carrère and Hastings’s first major commission. Later in life, Carrère recounted the young partners’ jubilation when Hastings returned from a meeting with the news that they had been awarded the plum assignment. Hastings burst into the office and began throwing things at Carrère: “ ‘We are going to Florida! We’ve got a million-dollar hotel to build there!’ Then we simply proceeded to smash everything we could lay our hands on, our office boy ably assisting us. Of course, we didn’t know anything about hotels.” Thanks to the start that Flagler gave them, the young firm would go on to become one of the most celebrated architectural practices of the day, renowned for works in the Beaux Arts style and for such iconic commissions as the New York Public Library, the Frick Collection’s building on Manhattan’s Upper East Side, and the Russell Senate Office Building in Washington, DC.


Excavation began on December 1, 1885. It would take two years and $2.5 million to construct the hotel on a site that had once been a mosquito-infested swamp. Lumber was cut in the Palatka region of Florida and shipped to the site by barge and rail. The carved and dressed oak that would adorn the interior was made in New York and shipped down by coastal schooners. Coquina gravel was sourced from the neighboring island of Anastasia, mixed with concrete, and then poured to create walls four feet thick.


Rising four stories high, topped by a pair of medieval turrets that jutted even higher, the Hotel Ponce de León towered over the Spanish colonial town of St. Augustine. Flagler, who oversaw every element of the design, surrounded the structure, which sprawled over five acres, with a tropical palm garden and a fragrant orange grove. The building was built to last. It still stands today as the imposing main campus building of Flagler College.


Dolphin fountains flowed at the east and west entrances. Over the main entryway, carved mermaids supported a shield bearing the hotel’s name. Vine-covered verandahs and loggias lined with spiraling terra-cotta columns opened into a dome-covered rotunda, its floor laid with brightly colored Moroccan mosaics. Carved figurines and naval ornaments recalled the era of the sixteenth-century Spanish discoverer Ponce de León. The dining room seated seven hundred and featured soaring stained-glass windows designed by Louis Comfort Tiffany. Flagler furnished the 450 rooms and suites of varying sizes with Flemish carpets, silk draperies, and furniture made of rosewood, walnut, and mahogany. Steam heat and electric lights, both considered novelties at the time, became important new amenities. Initially, the bathrooms were not en suite, but as tastes changed, Flagler added them.


When the furniture arrived by steamship in late 1887, the tycoon himself was down at the pier to meet the shipment. Removing his topcoat, he helped the workers transport the new furnishings to the hotel. The grand opening of the Ponce de León was on January 10, 1888. It garnered immediate acclaim despite its high prices: $35 per night ($899 in today’s dollars) for a suite and full board. Despite the cost, wealthy visitors from the North would soon fill the hotel to capacity, and it quickly earned a sterling reputation for its food and service—and for its clientele. Charles A. Dana, the editor of the New York Sun, an art connoisseur, and one of a long list of prominent figures who arrived for a stay, told the Florida Times-Union, “The Ponce de León had more pretty girls in it than any hotel I ever saw in my life.” Florida’s reputation as a premier resort destination was born.





The resort hotel was largely a nineteenth-century innovation, one whose rapid adoption around the world would be spurred by the arrival of the railroad. Luxury urban hotels, per se, were not new; they had evolved from the coaching inns of medieval Europe. One of the earliest in Europe was London’s Mivart’s Hotel, which opened in 1812 and today is known as Claridge’s. The early railway hotels, such as the Victoria and the Adelaide at London’s Euston Station, followed soon after in 1839, the product of growing urban populations and industrialization. At first, these were little more than glorified dormitories. The Swiss would put their stamp on this new class of accommodation for the wealthy by offering exceptional service at hotels like the Schweizerhof (1845) on the Lake of Lucerne and the two hotels in Zurich built by Johannes Baur : the Baur en Ville (1836) and the Baur au Lac (1844). It wasn’t long before neglected palaces—and in some cases monasteries—in German spa towns, along the French Riviera, and in the Italian Lake District were being retrofitted into palatial hotels.


In the United States, the Tremont House in Boston, completed in 1829, was the first to offer indoor plumbing and running water and what was to become the design standard: rows of private rooms with locking doors arrayed along long interior corridors. Each room sported a jug of water, a bowl, and a bar of soap. It wasn’t until Ellsworth Statler built the Hotel Statler in Buffalo in 1907 that a bathroom with a shower or a tub became a standard feature in every room. Still, the Tremont kicked off a competition among US cities and hoteliers to build the largest, swankest, most comfortable hostelry available, fronted by the most elaborately ornamented facade the developer could afford.


By the 1880s, large resort hotels along the railroads were being built as vacation destinations for those who could afford them, but especially for America’s burgeoning class of well-to-do entrepreneurs, bankers, and industrialists, few of whom yet owned second homes. And for the country’s Gilded Age titans, these grand resort hotels—ostentatious, luxurious, and potentially highly profitable—quickly became trophy assets that offered a way to diversify one’s wealth away from the source of one’s fortune and into more financially stable real estate. They also added to one’s social status and prestige. The practice continues to this day, with many billionaires owning highly visible resort properties as integral parts of their investment portfolios, and for their own amusement.


However, no one had ever assembled a collection of resort hotels on the colossal scale that Flagler would do in the last years of the nineteenth century.
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Even before the Ponce de León was finished in 1888, Flagler began work on a second ambitious hotel directly across the street. The giant Alcazar was intended for a slightly less affluent clientele. A square-shaped hotel built around a central courtyard, it would boast a bathing casino, which is to say a swimming pavilion replete with steam baths (single bath: $1.50), massage rooms (massage at bath: $1; outside: $2), and gym equipment. The 120-foot indoor pool was fed by an artesian well (exercise and plunge: 50 cents). Other facilities included a 15,000-square-foot dance floor lit with five hundred incandescent lights, ship shuffleboard, and tenpin and candlepin bowling, while a colonnade at the front of the building housed an array of luxury boutiques. The hotel’s facade paid homage to the Alcázar palace in Seville, Spain. The Hotel Alcazar initially slept 250; 40 more rooms were added later when a fourth floor was built. The hotel cost Flagler $1 million to build, equivalent to $26.6 million in current dollars. Today it houses municipal offices, shops that cater to tourists, and the Lightner Museum, which is devoted primarily to Gilded Age antiquities. A cafe occupies the sloping floor of the empty indoor swimming pool.


Railroads would necessarily play a starring role in Flagler’s growing empire. Fortunately, he already possessed a solid understanding of this business. The financing and building of the railroads had been the great business story of his youth, impossible to ignore. And for years, he had negotiated freight rates with the midwestern railroads on behalf of Standard Oil. Starting in late 1885, he began to buy up and combine the small East Coast railroads in the north of Florida.


Flagler soon acquired the Jacksonville, St. Augustine, and Halifax River Railroad, followed by the St. Augustine and Palatka Railroad, and finally the St. John’s Railroad. Collectively, these became known as the Florida East Coast Railway, or the FEC, on being chartered in 1895. To make the distinct pieces work together, he removed all the narrow-gauge tracks that had been built using light rails and replaced them with the more standard sixty-pound rails and 4-foot-8.5-inch gauge tracks (gauge denotes the distance between the two rails). He replaced the steam locomotives with five new McQueen engines that had a top speed of sixty miles an hour. He also constructed his first bridge, over the St. Johns River.


The railroads gave Flagler enormous power and leverage within the state, as each company was an unregulated monopoly. They also came with a bonus: he could avail himself of massive land grants available only to the railroads. In 1899, for example, the Florida legislature would set aside ten million acres of land to be awarded to anyone willing to build new railroads that enhanced the state’s nascent infrastructure. Flagler took full advantage. Claiming eight thousand acres for every mile of track that he laid, he temporarily seized control of two million acres of land at no additional cost. When the federal government contested this deal, Flagler took actual possession of far less, but a still-substantial 210,000 acres. He then added vastly to this acreage through deals with other Florida companies and outright purchases of land.


To cultivate, develop, or simply sell off all the land that he now owned, he founded the Model Land Company and its various subsidiaries. He would use the land company to promote agricultural projects of various kinds—orange and pineapple groves being chief among them—draining and then selling land to farmers and plantation operators at prices that initially ranged from $1.50 to $5.00 an acre, payable in three or four yearly installments at 8 percent interest. In other cases, he went into the construction business, erecting single-family homes, which sold for $1,500 each. The company even planned and promoted colonies along the east coast of the state designed specifically for Swedish, Norwegian, Danish, and Japanese immigrants to the United States. By now, Flagler had morphed from a hotelier into a full-fledged real estate developer.


To run his railroad efficiently, he needed passengers and freight to run in both directions, in and out of the state. Building supplies were streaming nicely southward, but he needed cargoes of vegetables and fruit to return northward as well. As the system matured, contentious arguments would arise over the rates his railroad charged and the preferences he gave to certain shippers—Cuban purveyors of pineapples, for instance. Eventually public opposition would grow in reaction to the inordinate power the various Flagler enterprises wielded within the state, but, by then, they were virtually unstoppable, as was Flagler.


As the organization grew in size and complexity, Flagler gathered around him a team of exceptionally able men to run his various enterprises. For chief engineer, he recruited a man named Joseph C. Meredith, who had overseen the construction of a giant pier in Tampico, Mexico. Meredith, who loved a challenge, was something of an authority on the uses of reinforced (with iron rods) concrete, the newest building material. He in turn recruited workers from as far north as New York City, with offers to pay their $12 rail fare down to Florida and daily wages of $1.25, which was 25 cents above the norm of the time.


White laborers—a mix of Greeks, Italians, and Germans—moved the earth to build the dikes and the roadbeds. Much of the work would be undertaken in grueling, hot, sunbaked conditions. Mosquitos, poisonous brown recluse and black widow spiders, ten-foot-long American alligators, and a variety of venomous snakes were ever-present dangers. Smudge pots were used to keep the bugs at bay. The clearing and soil moving was done by hand, using machetes and wheelbarrows.


Most foremen believed that black workers were better suited to hot conditions, so more African American men were hired during the sweltering summer months. It was also thought that black laborers excelled at cutting and clearing operations but not at any of the skilled jobs such as carpentry. A rare exception was Dana A. Dorsey, a black carpenter with only a fourth-grade education. The son of former Georgia slaves, Dorsey would go on to build rental housing for black workers in Miami and eventually became one of Florida’s first black millionaires. Needless to say, there was not a single black foreman. The railroad wasn’t above hiring convicts, either, at a cost of $2.50 per month, even though the convict leasing system was well known for its brutality toward its workers.





By 1888, Flagler owned a section of track that reached as far south as Daytona, about a third of the way down the east coast of Florida. At Ormond, just north of Daytona, he bought a small hotel, renovated it, expanded it, and renamed it the Ormond Beach Hotel. He soon added an eighteen-hole golf course, which was still a novelty in the United States at the time. Then in 1892 he extended the railroad even farther south. By November, it had reached New Smyrna. Hugging the coast, it arrived at Cocoa later that year. It reached Rockledge in February 1893, and Fort Pierce in January 1894. By this time, eager to build another resort hotel, Flagler had a specific destination in mind: a site sixty-eight miles farther south.


Sailing his yacht along the coast the year before, he had stumbled on a slender, sandy barrier island about two-thirds of the way down the Florida coast. He secretly explored the island by mule cart and on foot. Only three-quarters of a mile wide, it was situated between a freshwater ocean inlet called Lake Worth Lagoon and a section of ocean where the Gulf Stream happened to swing close to shore, creating surprisingly balmy temperatures. The deserted, palm-lined beaches were beautiful; the sand bountiful and soft to the touch. He wrote to a friend, “I have found a veritable paradise.” Flagler would name the island’s tiny village Palm Beach. On a site overlooking Lake Worth Lagoon, he began to build the Royal Poinciana Hotel.


This hotel would be his most ambitious structure yet. In fact, it would be the largest wood hotel in the world and possibly the world’s largest wooden structure. Initially able to accommodate 800 guests, the Royal Poinciana eventually boasted 1,081 hotel rooms. At its peak, the resort would employ a staff of 1,400: a waiter for every four diners, a chambermaid for every three rooms, and a bellboy in every hallway. The announcement of the hotel’s construction, and the news of the sheer scale of it, sparked one of the earliest Florida property booms. Prices for lots of raw land in the vicinity of the hotel jumped from $150 to $1,500 an acre.


In the spring of 1893, with construction well under way, Flagler decided to move his predominantly black work crews out of the nearby impromptu shantytown known as the Styx. He relocated them to a new two-hundred-acre settlement he’d created on the opposite shore of Lake Worth, a grid of streets soon to be renamed West Palm Beach. From then on, the workers would row across Lake Worth in the morning to their jobs on the construction site and then row home in the evening. By this deliberate act, Flagler accentuated the divide between the workers on one side of his tracks and the future well-to-do patrons of his resort hotels on the other. He had, in effect, created the two worlds of the haves and the have-nots, and set a negative precedent for later developers. The socioeconomic divide between these two groups would grow more pronounced during the 1920s.


Flagler discouraged the use of horses and automobiles on Palm Beach Island. Wicker wheelchairs, also known as pedicycles, or, later, by the more derogatory term “afromobiles,” became ubiquitous at his hotels. Two hundred black chairmen were employed for $5 a day to pedal hotel guests around his hotel properties, to local attractions, or to the beach.


When the Royal Poinciana, charging $100 a night, proved to be another instant success, Flagler mirrored his St. Augustine strategy and added a second giant and opulent resort hotel, this one on the ocean side of Palm Beach Island. He would name it the Palm Beach Inn, and only later changed it to the Breakers. Today the Breakers, which has burned down twice, is a Florida landmark and the only one of the properties Henry Flagler built that survives as a resort hotel.





In the winter of 1894–95, Florida suffered a series of horrific freezes. Citrus crops, vegetables, and even coconut palms wilted and died across the northern two-thirds of the state. The economic impact was immediate: the year before, Florida groves produced 5.6 million boxes of oranges; the year following the freeze, that number was down to 150,000 boxes. The fruit-bearing trees lost 90 percent of their fruit-bearing branches. Flagler was determined to protect his various investments, chief among them his railroad, which now depended heavily on local agriculture. He doled out money to the farmers; he gave away seeds, packing materials, and other essentials to help them keep their businesses afloat. And he did much more, lending his credit to stabilize local banks. In short, Flagler kept the crisis from spiraling out of control, which could have cost him ten years of effort and expense.


According to local legend, a backwoods widow named Julia Tuttle actively lobbied him at this time to extend his railroad down to her coastal village, once the site of a Seminole Indian trading post. She was willing to gift him one hundred acres of her land—she owned a 640-acre homestead along the Miami River at Key Biscayne—and one of her neighbors would match that amount, knowing full well that their remaining property would soar in value. When the Key Biscayne area of Florida escaped the harsh winter freezes, she seized upon this fact and sent Flagler sprays of citrus branches in full bloom to prove the point, which may have helped to sway him. Flagler made the journey down to visit her, selected a new hotel site, and struck a deal with Tuttle. Before long, he had yet another hotel under construction: the Royal Palm, with its mansard roof, its signature “Flagler yellow” exterior, and its green trim. Here, too, black workers were relegated to the outskirts of town, in an area then known as Colored Town (later renamed Overtown), which soon became an overcrowded slum. He also built a railroad station, the first city streets, some modestly priced housing, and various waterworks, although they didn’t extend to Colored Town. As was so often the case, the railroad’s arrival had the desired effect of literally putting the town—Miami, as it was soon named—on the map.


Julia Tuttle did not waste her opportunity, either. She immediately built a large hotel of her own, the Miami Hotel, completed in 1896. Sadly, she did not live long enough to witness the full effects of the Florida boom or to see Miami transform from a small town to a metropolis. She died of meningitis two years later at age forty-nine. Her wooden hotel caught fire a year after that and burned to the ground.


Meanwhile, Flagler’s succession of projects—hotels built in concert with the extension of the railroad—was proving to be extraordinarily costly. He would complain to an interviewer in 1909, “If it wasn’t for Florida, I’d be quite a rich man today.” He was exaggerating his penury. When he began his construction spree, Flagler’s net worth ranged between $10 million and $20 million, but that fortune had soared. By 1900, his thirty-thousand-share equity stake in the Standard Oil Trust was throwing off $1.2 million a year in dividends. He borrowed against that money and occasionally sold shares back to the company when cash grew tight. Flagler was able to spend $45 million on the railroad, another $12 on the hotels, and $1 million on steamships. Millions more were spent on charitable activities that included the building of local churches, which helped to soften his image with the locals. The hotels, despite being seasonal in nature, eventually proved profitable. The railroad, however, never broke even during his lifetime.


By 1904, Flagler had nearly completed his resort hotel empire. He would call it the Florida East Coast Hotel Company. He also owned two electric and water utility companies and four land companies. To these he would add a steamship service to Cuba and the Bahamas (where he bought yet another hotel, the Colonial). He remained actively in charge of the so-called Flagler System until 1909, at which point he delegated day-to-day control of the enterprise to a president, James R. Parrott, a graduate of Yale University and Yale Law School, who had served as his chief legal advisor for decades.


Despite the giant scale of this empire, Flagler remained largely unknown to the general public. This was by choice. He would grant only three major interviews during these later years, and even in these, he revealed little of himself or his motivations for building his empire.


There may well have been a reason why Flagler presented such an implacable facade to the public, his image notably at odds with those of the showmen developers who came after him. For one thing, he had a great deal of sorrow and unhappiness to hide. He had lost a child of only three years in age early in his first marriage. Then, of course, he had lost his beloved first wife, Mary, to tuberculosis. In 1889 he lost his only other daughter, Jennie Louise, who died after a troubled pregnancy; the newborn child herself lived only a few hours. In addition, Flagler had grown estranged from his only son, Harry, who moved to Florida after graduating from Columbia University but spent only two years working for his father before retreating to Manhattan. There he spent the rest of his life immersed in the world of classical music, eventually founding a symphony orchestra that would merge with another to form the New York Philharmonic. In his will, Flagler left his son only a small portion of his fortune, some 5,000 shares of Standard Oil stock, complaining that “my son has not shown for me the filial regard that would make me inclined to do more for him,” and stipulating that Harry be disinherited if he attempted to contest the will.


Worse yet, Flagler’s second marriage, to Ida Alice Shourds, had proven disastrous. She squandered his money on clothes, yachts, and lavish entertaining, throwing a succession of charity balls in St. Augustine at which she wore increasingly risqué clothing. Always irascible and erratic in her behavior, she grew noticeably more so. Unable to bear children, she became inordinately interested in other people’s newborns and compiled a large scrapbook of their photographs that she obsessed over. Soon she became delusional, announcing that she was engaged to marry the czar of Russia and whispering to household staff that she planned to murder her husband. Alice began to carry on discussions with imaginary people and absent relatives and to throw violent tantrums. In 1895 she was finally committed into the House of Dr. Choate Sanitarium in Pleasantville, New York; eight months later, she was briefly released, but the delusions soon returned. She locked herself in her bedroom with a Ouija board, which she consulted for hours at a time, and, at one point, she attacked a visiting doctor with a pair of scissors, badly lacerating his face and hands.


Alice was institutionalized for a second and final time in March 1897. At this point, she seems to have descended into a constant state of paranoia and outright insanity, talking to imaginary people, filling notebooks with incoherent scribbling, rouging her cheeks with the dye from her yarn, blackening her eyebrows with burnt cork, and rubbing the cream served with her coffee into her hair as a tonic. As one account put it, “she lost her reason.” In June 1899 she was declared mentally incompetent. Flagler would send her flowers twice a week for the rest of his life, but after her second incarceration, he never saw her again. She lived on for another thirty years, far outliving him and dying of a stroke in 1930.


At the time of Alice’s second incarceration, in 1897, Flagler, now sixty-six, began an affair with a North Carolina belle named Mary Lily Kenan, who was thirty-seven years younger than he. When her parents objected to the relationship, he gave her a thousand shares of Standard Oil stock, then trading for around $600 a share, and bought her jewelry valued at more than $1 million. He was determined to marry her and resolved to find a way to do so.


Flagler began by moving his legal residency to Florida. There he lobbied the legislature to draft and pass a new law that allowed for divorce on grounds of insanity—up until then, adultery was the only legal cause for divorce. The legislation easily passed both the Florida House of Representatives and the Senate and was signed into law by the governor in April 1901. Two months later, Flagler was able to divorce Alice. It was subsequently revealed that he had lavished gifts on Florida legislators, following the familiar Standard Oil playbook.


He finally married Mary Lily in August 1901. As a wedding present, he built for her, on the edge of Lake Worth in Palm Beach, one of the Gilded Age’s most splendid private homes: Whitehall. Designed by Carrère and Hastings in their favored Beaux Arts style, this marble masterpiece was dubbed “the Taj Mahal of North America” by the New York Herald. It combined Greek and Roman architecture with French and Italian Renaissance motifs, and endures today as the Flagler Museum. The 4,400-square-foot front hall, known as Grand Hall, featured seven different types of marble and was the largest room in any of the great Gilded Age mansions: 110 feet wide by 40 feet deep. The dining room seated fifty. Upstairs were sixteen guest suites, each with a different design, evoking a famous epoch in world history.


Flagler personally oversaw every detail of Whitehall’s construction and decorating. Perhaps because Mary Lily left such matters to him, his third marriage appeared to be a happy one, at least initially. She was quickly welcomed into the social set in Palm Beach, where she was admired for her grace and charm, and especially for her generosity: she liked to give out silver trinkets and snuffboxes as gifts. The third Mrs. Flagler enjoyed dancing, playing the piano, and singing, and took an active interest in local cultural events. She began to entertain grandly. Eventually, however, rumors would emerge that Mary Lily drank too much and, more ominously, that she was addicted to the opiate laudanum. The couple drifted apart in the ensuing years, estranged by his age and growing frailty; Flagler soon began abstaining from attending his wife’s social events. He was elderly now and had begun to lose his eyesight; then he began to go deaf as well.


In response to his growing infirmities, he retreated deeper into his work. At one point, in the summer of 1907, a newspaper reported that the seventy-seven-year-old entrepreneur had suffered a nervous breakdown. As Flagler told the journalist Edwin Lefèvre in 1909, “I don’t know of anyone who has been successful, but that he has been compelled to pay some price for success. Some get it at the loss of their health, others forego the pleasures of home and spend their years in the forest or mines; some acquire success at the loss of their character, and so it goes. Many prices are paid.”





As he entered the final decade of his life, Flagler grew preoccupied with fulfilling one last grand ambition, and it may well have been his goal from the beginning: to extend the railroad to the remote island town of Key West. He seems to have understood early on that the eventual opening of the Panama Canal could mean enormous business opportunities for the deep port on the island, but only if it could be linked by rail to the mainland. Coal, for example, could be delivered there to the US Navy, now patrolling the Caribbean. Trade with Cuba presented yet another opportunity, especially after the island fell under American purview following the Spanish-American War of 1898. Cuba, a rich source of sugar, tobacco, pineapples, bananas, and coffee, was just a short ninety-mile steamship ride from Key West. Conceivably, Pullman cars full of tourists could be carried by steamship to the island and back. Flagler is said to have gathered his engineers at the terminus of the railroad south of Miami in early 1904 and announced, “Gentlemen, the railroad will go to sea.” He had saved this, his riskiest project, for last—a $15 million engineering marvel that would be disparaged by the press as “Flagler’s Folly.” The Key West Extension seemed as improbable and preposterous a project as would the building of a new Egyptian pyramid.


The 155 miles of track from Miami to Key West would take eight years to complete, between 1904 and 1912, at a cost of $35 million. It would stand as a dazzling feat of engineering on a par with the building of the Hoover Dam. The once-skeptical press would describe it as “the Eighth Wonder of the World.” To carve through the Everglades south of Homestead, Flagler’s men used a pair of floating dredges that worked side by side. They dug up the mud and the sedimentary rock known as marl and dumped it between them to construct a causeway and railroad bed, creating their own parallel channels as they chewed their way through the great swamp toward Key Largo.


When the railroad finally reached the ocean, the project grew infinitely more complex. Meredith and his men would need a fleet of ships to proceed. Flagler bought, leased, or had built an armada that included some nine paddle-wheel steamers, sixty-three gasoline-powered launches, five tugboats, forty-six barges or lighters that varied in length from 20 feet to 157 feet (to be used for driving pilings, mixing cement, or ferrying cargo), thirteen floating dredges, and a dozen quarter boats, or houseboats, to be used as dormitories.


Linking up the Florida Keys required thirteen separate stretches of track, varying in length from .02 miles to 28.4 miles over water that ranged in depth from 10 to 30 feet. Each was a distinct project with its own obstacles. Waterproof cofferdams were constructed so that the concrete could be poured to make the piers and viaducts that would carry the railroad bed over the water. The Long Key Viaduct, one of the first great engineering problems, required 186 separate eighty-foot reinforced concrete arches in order to span 2.15 miles of open water. It would take 286,000 barrels of concrete to build a structure that resembled a Roman aqueduct. The Seven-Mile Bridge from Knight’s Key to Little Duck Key, the longest of the open-water expanses, took four years to build and included a swiveling drawbridge over the deepest stretch of water.


The Panama Canal was the only project on the continent at the time to compete in scale with the Key West Extension. With 102 steam shovels deployed for more than a decade, the canal project dwarfed Flagler’s railroad to the sea, but in technical terms was less of an engineering feat. There was another important difference: Flagler’s extension was entirely privately funded.


Heat, humidity, and bugs made for the most arduous working conditions yet. Fresh water was so scarce on the Keys that tanker cars were used to ship in supplies of it, or the water was pumped out of the Everglades into large holding tanks. During the day, most of the men wore improvised screened hats made from cheesecloth and wire. Long-sleeved shirts and gloves helped to protect against the cacti, mosquitoes, spiders, and fire ants. The mosquitos rose in black swarms after five o’clock in the afternoon, discouraging anyone from venturing outdoors. The workers slept in bunkhouses with as many as sixty-four men to a dorm. Many slept on bunk beds in the hold of a quarter boat.


It was a six-day workweek for the 2,500 workers. Sundays were spent writing letters to loved ones at home or exploring Miami or the Keys. Paid monthly in gold coin, many of the workers promptly drank or gambled away their earnings. According to one newspaper account, “the very great majority will wend their way to a groggery and there remain until the cop scoops them in or their money is gone.” Whiskey, at $5 a quart, could easily consume a large portion of a paycheck.


All went relatively smoothly until the night of October 17, 1906, when an unexpected hurricane blew onto the Keys. The railroad crews, using unreliable homemade barometers, were caught by surprise. Quarter boat no. 4, carrying on board 145 sleeping men and tethered to the pilings at Long Key Viaduct, was torn from its mooring. The gigantic surf of the storm smashed the vessel to pieces against the new concrete piers before sweeping the debris out to sea. Only forty-nine survivors were rescued over the following days, most found clinging to wreckage and floating in the Gulf Stream, one of them blinded by the salt water and sun. Another twenty men drowned when the steamship St. Lucie sank in the pitch dark later that same night.


How did Flagler respond to this sudden loss of life? Perhaps it is no coincidence that the hurricane occurred in late 1906, and Flagler suffered his nervous breakdown in 1907.


Eleven more men would die when the tugboat Sybil sank in another hurricane in 1909. Dynamite, which was used daily, killed an additional twenty-one men in accidents of various kinds, and maimed another dozen. One worker, drunk and asleep on the tracks, was run over by a train. In total, the project claimed 158 lives and injured another 81.


At the end, it was a race against time—the time left in Flagler’s life. In the final year of the project, with the frail tycoon weakening, they pushed on even harder, ramping up the number of men and adding shifts to get the work done. They chose his eighty-second birthday as a deadline for completion and missed the date by less than a month. When the railroad was finished on January 21, 1912, Flagler, deaf and nearly completely blind, was in failing health, but he could still walk with the aid of a cane. He rode down to Key West in his private railcar to the celebratory ribbon cutting, accompanied by his wife, the Florida governor, and a handful of state dignitaries. They arrived to find a crowd of some five thousand, who cheered the old man and waved flags. He disembarked gingerly to blaring boat horns and drumrolls of the Cuban National Band.


A podium had been set up at the railroad station. In his remarks, Flagler spoke of all the changes that he had witnessed in Florida over the prior decades: When he broke ground on the Ponce de León in December 1885, there were only 1,500 to 2,000 people living in St. Augustine. There was not a single house between the city and East Palatka. Ormond had only 150 inhabitants; Daytona, about the same. Everything south of Daytona was virtual wilderness, including the sixty miles between Palm Beach and Miami. “I traveled over it riding behind a mule and a cart.… Palm Beach had three houses, two families living in two of them and an old bachelor in the third house. Coconut Grove perhaps had three or four houses—nothing south of that. Today there is a very large population, and that whole country is filled with an industrious and prosperous people, and thousands of comfortable homes exist where desolation existed only twenty-five years ago.”


At one point in the celebration, a chorus of schoolchildren serenaded Flager. As he listened, he turned to an official and remarked, “I can hear the children singing, but I cannot see them.”


If Flagler had not inherited his father’s reticence, as he claimed, or perhaps if he had granted more interviews and minded less seeing his name in print, the story of what he accomplished in Florida would be better known today. His railroad-to-sea project remained overshadowed by the construction of the Panama Canal, which was completed two years later, in 1914—much as Flagler’s earlier career had been eclipsed by the career of his partner, John D. Rockefeller. There was also the fact that his railroad never earned back the enormous investment required to build it.


Back in Palm Beach, Flagler lived on for another fifteen months. In May 1913 the old tycoon fell on the marble stairs in Whitehall and broke his hip. He complained to the minister of the nearby Royal Poinciana Chapel, “I was old and blind and deaf; was it fair to make me lame?” He never recovered. He died on May 20, at age eighty-three.


Thanks to his taciturn public persona, Henry Flagler’s obituaries were understandably somewhat broad-brush, extolling him for converting the Florida peninsula from wilderness into one long luxury resort, and for being perhaps the greatest construction genius America had yet produced. The fact that one of the nation’s richest men had become the nineteenth century’s greatest entrepreneur and that he had accomplished so much in the second act of his life seemed all the more remarkable to the press of the day.


All that was true, but the encomiums overlooked the larger story of what Flagler had accomplished. By virtually inventing the resort towns of Ormond, Palm Beach, Delray, Deerfield, Fort Lauderdale, Homestead, and Miami, and by building the Florida East Coast Railway the length of Florida to service them, well before there were decent roads, Flagler had laid down the main infrastructure artery—the freight lifeline—for the next great boom in the state’s astonishing development. Thanks to these improvements, and Flagler’s early investments in land, agriculture, banking, and utilities, Florida would grow from being arguably the poorest state in the union to having the country’s third largest population and fourth largest economy today. “Indeed, no individual has had a greater or more lasting impact on a state than Henry Flagler has had in Florida,” a recent biographer has written.


Flagler had created a blueprint for how resort development could be accomplished and demonstrated the soaring heights a developer could reach if he or she had the funds and the willingness to dream big enough. His imitators stood in the wings, with plans of their own, eager to build on what he had begun or to put their own marks on the unique terrain of the state. Fittingly, most of them would arrive in Florida on the very railroad that Flagler had built—at such a great cost in wealth and human lives.
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By the time of his death, Henry Flagler had created in Florida what the author Henry James, after a visit, described as “a hotel civilization.” If you had the money to afford Flagler’s expensive resorts, you were granted access to this new community, whether you were a member of the old guard or one of the nouveau riche. This was especially true in Palm Beach, the toniest of the developments, where “nothing counts but lucre,” according to the editor of the New York scandal sheet Town Topics: The Journal of Society. In Palm Beach, the only important social distinction that mattered (and still matters today) was the one between the ordinary wealthy and the extremely rich. Fittingly, at the very top of the social heap were those who arrived in Florida by private yacht or, better yet, in their own private railcar. During this period, which fell at the end of the Gilded Age, “The nearest thing to a real aristocracy in America was the private-car peerage,” according to the New Yorker writer Alva Johnston, “and Palm Beach had the world’s most snobbish rail road yard—a Newport-on-wheels, an exalted trailer camp for the gold-encrusted Pullmans of the New World nobility.”


Flagler had created a winter playground for the wealthy, but it was active for only six to eight weeks each winter and was largely boarded up in the summer months. The resort towns would remain no more than winter retreats until better and more numerous roads could be built, freeing potential year-round residents from their dependency on the railroad.


Meanwhile, popular pastimes at the Royal Poinciana and the Breakers consisted of bicycling, which was a hugely popular hobby at the turn of the century, and also golf, swimming, croquet, and shooting. You could take aim at exotic plumed shorebirds, such as egrets and herons, from the decks of boats, or you could stand on the sand and take potshots at pelicans and seagulls. In Miami, the lifestyle was similar, revolving around Flagler’s Royal Palm Hotel, where the yellow and green clapboard structure catered to a similarly upmarket clientele, offering tea dances and soirees on a daily basis, as well as lawn tennis and swimming lessons.


Part of the fun and lure of the grand hotels, which socially reigned supreme from 1830 to 1930, was that they offered guests who were not of royal lineage all the luxury and grandeur once available only to the Old World’s royal families. Housed in highly theatrical neoclassical structures, these hotels could provide great comfort and obsequious levels of customer service, always a winning combination. In this pampered environment, “The customer is always right,” the great hotelier Cesar Ritz was the first to proclaim.


As everyone was on holiday, there was the unspoken understanding that the usual social constraints could be relaxed somewhat, which meant, of course, more drinking, gambling, and other forms of carousing. In fact, the grand hotels helped to break the social taboos that once forbade women from dining alone or smoking cigarettes in public. They even encouraged ever-deeper décolletages. Paradoxically, the very success of these grand hotels set in motion the cultural changes and trends toward informality that would cause them to fall out of favor.


The economic devastation in Europe caused by World War I hurt their prospects as well. On the Continent, the leading grand hotels fell into disrepair in the years following the war. In the United States, many grand hotels, such as the Royal Palm in Miami, were built in great haste and were lightly constructed out of timber. Gas lighting, big kitchens, and shoddy electrical wiring created serious fire hazards. Many would burn to the ground.


The bulk of the so-called New World nobility who frequented these grand resort hotels possessed fortunes that were the direct outcome of the country’s rapid industrialization, most of them derived from investments in oil, coal, steel, sugar, real estate, mining, finance, and automobiles. As these fortunes grew, a younger generation of wealthy visitors arrived in Florida: the sons and daughters of the founders of these great enterprises. For them, the hotels were less of a novelty and more of a relic of the bygone belle époque. It wasn’t long before the members of this younger generation tired of the formal hotel suites and began to play with the idea of building their own private homes for use during extended winter stays. These were the first stirrings of the land boom that would mark the 1920s. Whitehall had offered a superb example of what was possible, and so did a splendid new estate under construction; it was called Vizcaya.





If Flagler’s Whitehall was Palm Beach’s first great stately home, Villa Vizcaya would be Miami’s. Named in honor of the Spanish explorer Sebastián Vizcaíno, who discovered Biscayne Bay, the estate was built on the waterfront in 1914, two miles south of the city. Whereas the funds to build Whitehall came from a great fortune made in oil, the money behind Vizcaya derived from the mechanization of agriculture; more specifically, from the sale of grain harvesters. The house was the winter home of James Deering, son of the founder of the Deering Harvester Company, which had merged with the McCormick Harvesting Machine Company in 1902 to form International Harvester. The company soon made the Deering family one of the wealthiest in the country. James, who was the vice president of the merged company, was an elegant lifelong bachelor who liked to be shaved each morning by his personal valet in front of a large gilt mirror. He spoke three foreign languages fluently, wore a pince-nez, and walked with a Malacca walking cane—a popular accessory of aristocratic gentlemen of the late nineteenth century. He favored pearl-gray bespoke suits and owned six hundred neckties. He already owned a house on Lake Shore Drive in Chicago, an apartment in Manhattan, and leased a house on Rue Spontini in Paris during the summer months.


Initially, Deering had envisioned building a Spanish villa, but the design quickly morphed into a predominantly Venetian-style structure with Palladian elements spread across its three-story facade. Even before the impressive structure was completed, Deering had amassed a warehouse full of artwork and statuary on trips to Europe with his architect, F. Burrall Hoffman Jr., and his designer, Paul Chalfin, who had once worked for the famed interior decorator Elsie de Wolfe. Both men were united in their determination that the estate be a work of art. “Must we be so grand?” Deering is said to have moaned as Chalfin rummaged through crumbling French and Italian villas and palaces, buying up entire rooms, medieval altars—even a fireplace from a chateau that once belonged to Catherine de’ Medici, a powerful queen of France in the mid-1500s. One schooner brought in 110 tons of marble and 779 crates of household effects that had taken eleven days to load in the Port of New York.


Villa Vizcaya endures today as a museum of European decorative arts. Most of the elaborate formal gardens, however, are gone, with the exception of those immediately adjacent to the house. Originally, they stretched over 180 landscaped acres that included a walled garden, a fountain garden, a maze garden, a tropical garden, and a theater garden. A giant baroque stone barge in the shape of a galleon was erected in the water off the front of the house in part to serve as a breakwater. It was ornamented with statues of nude sea-girls carved by Stirling Calder, father of the sculptor Alexander Calder. Although somewhat dilapidated, the barge remains standing today. As the sea level has risen—more than a foot since its construction one hundred years ago—the barge appears to be sinking into the bay. It is worth noting that before the 1920s, and before the proliferation of the automobile and the internal combustion engine, sea level rise was limited to one foot per one thousand years. From 1930 onward, the rate would increase to one foot per one hundred years, a rate that today is accelerating once again.


The house itself, built around an open courtyard, is a clever synthesis of Renaissance, baroque, rococo, and neoclassical architectural styles. It was largely completed in two years, although Colombian landscape architect Diego Suarez, who deserves credit for the stone barge idea and design, did not complete the gardens until 1923.


For a time, at least 10 percent of the population of Miami was involved in the construction and maintenance of this extraordinary estate. Once the villa was up and running, it required a full-time staff of thirty that included a superintendent, a chief engineer, a boat captain, a boat engineer, a garage supervisor, a chauffeur to drive the Rolls-Royce, a poultry man, and a fishing guide, not to mention the cooks and the housemaids. The gardens and extended property employed another eighty or so. Fond of yachting and deep-sea fishing, Deering kept his eighty-foot cruiser Nepenthe and his forty-five-foot fishing launch Psyche moored in the waters off the front of the villa. Although Miami had been “dry” since 1913, Deering shipped in $27,000 worth of wine to fill his wine cellar.


According to one story, possibly false, Deering threw a stag dinner party for friends at Vizcaya that featured a performance by the entire chorus line of the Ziegfeld Follies, two of whom stayed on to marry Miami men. Another story, this one verified, is that William Randolph Hearst first met the Hollywood actress and former Ziegfeld girl Marion Davies, with whom he had a thirty-year extramarital affair, at a pool party at Vizcaya in 1918. Another source of salacious gossip was the secret passageway that linked Deering’s suite to the suite immediately next to his—an egress clearly designed for late-night assignations. The suite itself featured a seventeenth-century bed believed to have once belonged to Lady Hamilton, wife of the British ambassador to Naples, Italy, and mistress of Lord Nelson.


When in residence, Deering could be found seated in a white wicker chaise longue in the open courtyard, clad in a white linen suit and wearing his pince-nez as he read the daily newspapers. Some of celebrated society artist John Singer Sargent’s finest watercolors were painted of the loggia and terraces at Vizcaya—as well as a handful of more personal nudes of the Vizcaya workmen. A longtime sufferer of pernicious anemia, Deering had the use of the house for only nine winters. Accompanied by a nurse, his private physician, his personal secretary, and his valet, he would die at age sixty-five in 1925 on the French luxury liner SS Paris on a return trip from Paris.





Construction projects such as Vizcaya began to draw both the professional and working classes to Florida in significant numbers. For the first time, opportunities existed for employment beyond menial jobs in agriculture or on the staff of the Flagler hotels. Bankers, lawyers, architects, artisans, contractors, interior decorators, real estate agents, and journalists arrived on the coattails of the wintering rich, recognizing that the tropical frontier was now fertile ground for business.


Chief among these new prospectors was the handful of figures that would end up playing starring roles in the great land boom of the 1920s.


The first to appear was a handsome, square-faced twenty-five-year-old New York law student named George Edgar Merrick. In the fall of 1911, he sat staring out a Pullman car window at the blur of passing loblolly pines as his train rumbled through the forests of Georgia and crossed the border into Florida. His life and his future career had just been upended by an alarming piece of news: a few days earlier, word had reached him by telegraph that his father, who was suffering from heart disease, had taken a turn for the worse and lay bedridden and desperately ill. The family needed George to come home to take over managing its extensive grapefruit planation. Any plans he might have had to pursue a career of his own were put on hold. On the train that day, Merrick struggled to contain his bitterness. He was returning, as he wrote in an autobiographical short story, “like the beaten prodigal son” to assume the role of hired hand to his sick, irascible father.


The Reverend Solomon Merrick, a Congregationalist minister with a degree from Yale Divinity School, had moved his family to the area south of Miami from Duxbury, Massachusetts, in 1899, when George, the oldest of six children, was twelve years old. The Merricks were looking for warmer, healthier climes after having lost a four-year-old daughter to diphtheria. With little idea of the challenges awaiting them, Solomon and his wife, Althea, had bought a 160-acre homestead, sight unseen, with their life savings of $1,100. Their accommodations consisted of a two-room shack, two small cabins, and a barn built out of barrel staves. They scratched out a living growing vegetables and grapefruit on what turned out to be a poor parcel of land. As a young boy, George delivered their homegrown produce to Flagler’s newly built Royal Palm Hotel on a homemade mule cart, bouncing along the area’s sandy, rutted roads. At the docks in Miami Harbor, he helped load the family’s cabbages, peppers, eggplant, and potatoes onto Flagler steamships bound for Nassau and Cuba.


Even as a boy, George Merrick aspired to more than farming and selling produce. Highly idealistic and blessed with a modicum of literary talent, he wrote lyric poetry and earnest short stories. One of his stories, called “The Sponger’s Delilah,” won a literary contest in 1910 and was published in the New York Evening Telegram. When he floated the idea to his parents that he might want to pursue a literary career instead of the law, his father met the suggestion with derision. Now the point was moot: neither career was open to him. George was returning to Florida with his “silly, futile, empty, hopeless dreams” reduced to, as he wrote, “pithy, wilted stalks.”


And yet, secretly, he had not given up all hope of doing something creative and innovative. Merrick had been inspired by a visit to Frederick Law Olmsted Jr.’s Forest Hills Gardens in Queens, New York. The son of the famous landscape architect of Central Park, the junior Olmsted was, like his father, a chief proponent of the City Beautiful Movement that had caught the imaginations of many urban planners on both sides of the Atlantic at the turn of the century. Forest Hills Gardens, still under construction, was a well-publicized American realization of these novel ideas: a mixture of green spaces, tree-lined boulevards, and Arts and Crafts–style Tudor housing in a tranquil, parklike setting where residents could live harmoniously with nature.


The visit to Forest Hills Gardens gave George an idea for how to transform his family’s grapefruit plantation into a more profitable enterprise. Assuming he could make or raise enough money, he envisioned converting the property into a humane small city, an Olmsted-like planned community where every municipal requirement, every architectural feature, and every landscape detail could be worked out in advance to ensure its overall beauty, function, and harmony. He imagined seven grand entrances, winding streets and waterways, elegant plazas, neoclassical fountains, and harmonious tree-lined subdivisions.


Unlike his literary aspirations, which would never be fully realized, George Merrick’s dream of building an ideal community in Florida would come to stunning fruition over the ensuing years, thanks in large part to his impressive work ethic. His father would die of congestive heart failure within a year of George’s return to Miami, but, by then, George was staying up late at night to sketch out the details of his project. Coral Gables would emerge as one of the largest and most ambitious planned communities in the country, and it would set the standard for countless other developments, sparking imitators up and down the Florida coast throughout the 1920s. For a period of time, George Merrick would be the most famous land developer in the country.





The next significant figure to appear on the scene was a young woman named Marjory Stoneman Douglas. She, too, was twenty-five years old when she arrived by train in Miami in September 1915. Like Merrick, she had shown a precocious talent for writing, and also like Merrick, her home life had been challenging. Her parents separated when she was six, and she grew up an only child in her maternal grandparents’ house in Taunton, Massachusetts, in the custody of her mother and her aunt Fanny. Her mother, to whom she was close, was high-strung, childlike, and so mentally unstable as to require repeated stays in a sanitarium. In order to pay for Douglas to attend Wellesley College, the family rented out a room in their house, and her aunt dipped into her savings. At Wellesley, Douglas excelled at her studies, especially at elocution—from the outset, she was a fearless public speaker. In 1912, her senior year, she was editor in chief of her Wellesley senior yearbook. That same year, her mother died of breast cancer.


The dislocations and troubles of her childhood made Marjory, as she would say later in life, “a skeptic and a dissenter.” She also considered herself something of an ugly duckling, and the facts bear this out. As she wrote in her memoirs, “During my entire four years at college, no man took me to a dance, or even to lunch.” Not surprisingly, she married one of the first men ever to notice her or pay her much attention: Kenneth Douglas, an older, courtly fellow she met in a library in Newark, New Jersey. He was the church and social service editor of the Newark Evening News newspaper but would prove to be a singularly poor choice for a husband. Thirty years her senior, he was an unrepentant con artist who specialized in forging checks. Her uncle described him as “a threshold case”—in other words, an alcoholic. Within a year of their marriage, Kenneth was serving six months in prison for passing bad checks. When he attempted to repeat the offense shortly after his release, she resolved to leave him.


By moving down to Florida, she hoped to restart her adult life. That would entail getting a divorce, although securing one would require two years of residency in the state. Her father, Frank B. Stoneman, living in Miami, had offered to take her in and sent her money for the train fare to Florida. She had not seen him since she was six years old.


As luck would have it, her father was the founder and editor in chief of the Miami Herald, one of two newspapers serving the small but growing population of Miami, which now numbered some five thousand residents. His success as a newspaperman was hard won. He had failed at a variety of business ventures, including opening the first grocery store in Billings, Montana, and later selling lubricating oil to factories in Providence, Rhode Island. Frank had moved to Orlando, Florida, in the late 1890s to open a law practice, but after a few years of struggling there as an attorney, he accepted an old flatbed press in return for the forgiveness of a debt. In 1903 he moved the printing press down to Miami to start the first evening paper, assisted by two partners and his girlfriend and eventual second wife, Lilla Shine, who was a great-great-granddaughter of Thomas Jefferson.


They named the paper the Miami Evening Record. Four years later, they made an acquisition that caused the business to stumble financially. The paper was reorganized as the Miami Herald with Henry Flagler’s secretive financial backing and Flagler’s former railroad lawyer, Frank Shutts, serving as its new publisher. By then, Shutts was the most successful attorney in Miami. Shortly after Flagler’s death, Shutts would quietly purchase the paper from the tycoon’s estate; he would make a substantial fortune from the investment as the circulation soared. Frank Stoneman would continue to serve as the editor in chief of the Herald until his death in 1941.


The train ride down from New York City took two days. On the morning she arrived in Miami, directionless, her marriage a shambles, Douglas’s main worry was what her father and her new stepmother would think of her—and of the awful mess that she had made of her young life. She stepped down from her Pullman car into the morning heat and humidity. With time to kill before her father was scheduled to meet her, Marjory decided to explore the town. She walked the grid of Miami streets with its dingy collection of boardinghouses and its nondescript wood-frame commercial buildings. The largest structure by far was Flagler’s yellow and white Royal Palm Hotel.


In a few minutes, she reached the waterfront and stood there staring out at Biscayne Bay. A light breeze was blowing, and the slanting sun imparted glints of gold to the blue-green waters. “It was magnificent,” she recalled years later. “There were schools of mullet jumping in the sunlight, and flocks of birds turning and wheeling so their white wings would catch that light.” The humid air was dense with tropical promise and laden with citrus smells and faint jungle odors. The smells and the brilliant sunshine—“this wonderful white tropic light,” as she called it—stirred an early childhood memory of her father lifting her up to pluck an orange from a blossoming tree in the gardens of the Tampa Bay Hotel while on a family holiday; now once again she could smell that tree’s aroma: pungent, liquory, and sweet. With that memory came a sudden affinity for this strange new place: “I recognized it as something I had loved and missed and longed for all my life.”


Her rapport with Florida would only grow in intensity as she found her mission in life and her voice as a writer. Douglas’s chief cause would become the preservation of the nearby Everglades, the vast tropical wetlands that originally encompassed four thousand square miles in the southern half of the state. The Everglades were already the site of rancorous battles over land use, and those battles would become an ongoing postscript to the Flagler era. For her conservation work, Douglas would be awarded the Presidential Medal of Freedom in 1993—when she was 103 years old and still a formidable advocate for the environment.


Returning to the train, Douglas reboarded the Pullman and sat waiting, full of apprehension, her suitcase by her side. Eventually she heard a man approaching and someone shouting to him a greeting: “Morning, Judge!” Frank Stoneman swung himself aboard the train at the far end of her railcar. Unbeknownst to Douglas, her father had won an election for circuit court judge, although Governor Napoleon Broward had denied him the job and refused to ratify his election after the newspaperman wrote a series of editorials critical of Broward’s rash and scientifically ill-informed plan to drain the Everglades. The incident nevertheless had earned Stoneman the nickname “Judge.”


He strode down the aisle of the Pullman with his Panama hat in one hand, a tall, imposing figure with a handsome head of graying hair, a prominent Roman nose, and intelligent and kind hazel eyes. He seemed at ease and quietly confident. As Marjory rose to greet him, he took a slight step backward in surprise—and she instantly guessed why. She was just five foot two and had none of her mother’s beauty, nor did she have any of the charming curly hair that she had possessed as a child, the last time her father had seen her. In fact, she was a rather plain-looking young woman. “My face was always a bit crooked, and if anything, it had become crookeder,” she wrote in a 1987 autobiography, Voice of the River. Her stringy, mousy hair fell limply at either side of her face. “He expected a pretty girl, but now I wasn’t.” As she watched, he regained his composure with an effort. “Hello, sweetheart,” he said softly. “Hello, Father,” she answered. Then he leaned forward and kissed her on the cheek, and they were reunited, as she later described it, “with no fuss and feathers.”


When the position of society editor for the Miami Herald opened up unexpectedly a few weeks later, he offered his daughter the job, making her the newspaper’s first female reporter.





On January 5, 1918, a little more than two years after Marjory Douglas’s arrival, the next prominent player in Florida’s improbable chain of events hobbled down off Flagler’s train. His name was Addison Cairns Mizner. At forty-five, he was a large, burly man weighing more than 250 pounds. With a crutch tucked under each arm and one leg in a cast, he needed to be helped off the train at the West Palm Beach station. Accompanying him, each extending a hand, were his two traveling companions: an attractive young nurse named Joan Bates and a tall, strikingly good-looking man named Paris Singer, who sported a salt-and-pepper goatee.


Mizner had recently reinjured an old ankle injury from childhood. The incident happened after he offered three hitchhiking teenagers on Long Island a car ride, only to have them attack and mug him. In the fight that ensued, and before the ruffians made off with his wallet, one of them kicked Mizner hard in his bad ankle. The new break had required surgery and left Mizner bedridden for months. It was while recuperating in a Manhattan apartment set up for him by the celebrated British hostess Lady Alexandra Colebrooke that he met her friend Paris Singer, an heir to the Singer Sewing Machine Company fortune. The two men began chatting. They had much in common. Both enjoyed mingling in high society, and they shared a love of European architecture, painting, and antiques. They quickly became fast friends.


Their original plan had been to make a trip to Guatemala to look at Spanish colonial architecture and perhaps to collect some colonial-era artifacts and antiques. Singer had gone so far as to book tickets on the United Fruit Company boat to Puerto Barrios on the Gulf of Honduras and train tickets for the journey on to Guatemala City. But just a week before their departure, an earthquake leveled much of Guatemala City and neighboring Antigua. The two friends elected to head to Palm Beach instead for rest and relaxation.


Both had a good reason for wanting to escape New York during that biting cold winter of 1918: Mizner, because his architectural practice on Long Island had dried up with the onset of World War I, leaving him unemployed and virtually broke; and Singer, because he had recently ended a tempestuous and exhausting affair with the renowned modern dancer Isadora Duncan.


Both men had eclectic backgrounds. Addison Mizner, the son of a US diplomat, had spent a few years in his early teens in Guatemala, where his father served as the minister plenipotentiary (roughly equivalent to US ambassador) to several Central American countries. Addison’s higher education, after he was denied admission to the University of California, consisted of attending the University of Salamanca in Spain for a year. There he discovered his love of all things Spanish. Although he remained spottily educated and a poor speller, Mizner could draw well and was also an accomplished watercolorist. Perhaps more surprisingly, he could embroider beautifully.


A few years later, around 1892 or 1893, his family persuaded him to accompany his brother William, who had been hired as a ship’s doctor, on a trip to China. The hope was that the journey would discourage Addison from becoming an artist—or, worse, an architect, an occupation that his father considered to be “the lowest form of long-haired, flowing-cravat ass extant.” When Mizner returned to San Francisco, unreformed and unrepentant, he apprenticed himself as a drafter to Willis Polk, a celebrated West Coast architect. He worked with Polk from 1894 to 1896, eventually being promoted to a partner in the practice. Both men contributed to the Lark, a local avant-garde literary magazine.


In November 1897 Addison joined his brothers William and Wilson on an expedition to the Klondike in Alaska to search for gold, hiking over the steep Chilkoot Pass and then rafting down the Yukon River to Dawson to join the first group of gold seekers. Addison, with his architectural background, was assigned to help lay out the new boomtown, which soon swelled its population to over ten thousand. He later worked a claim, amassed a respectable “purse,” and then lost most of it to the Canadian tax authorities. Mizner later tried to launch a career as an architect in Honolulu but ended up sketching for tourists, painting miniature ivories, and helping to restore family portraits for the Hawaiian royal family. During these years, he traveled to Samoa, the Philippines, Siam, and India. In Australia, he boxed under the nickname “Whirlwind Watson from Frisco.”


Addison’s good friend, the mystery writer Arthur Somers Roche, objected to the description of Mizner during his early years in Florida as a fat man: “He is merely large, of brain and heart as well of body, and every ounce of him is concocted of roguery and gayety and mischief and laughter. It needs a great frame to contain tremendous mirth.” Witty and a fine raconteur, Addison had achieved some early literary notoriety for having coauthored (with the novelist and playwright Ethel Watts Mumford) The Cynic’s Calendar of Revised Wisdom an annual list of cleverly altered proverbs, such as: “Where there’s a will, there’s a lawsuit,” “Many are called but few get up,” or “A word to the wise is resented.”


When Mizner moved to New York to resume his architectural career, two childhood friends, Theresa (Tessie) Fair, and her sister, Virginia, known as Birdie, had provided him with excellent entrees into the city’s high society. The sisters were heirs to a fortune from the Comstock Lode—their father, James Graham Fair, was one of the four silver kings of Virginia City, Nevada, and San Francisco, who shared in the spoils of the so-called Big Bonanza, the country’s richest silver deposit. Both daughters had married wealthy, prominent New Yorkers.


The sisters introduced Mizner to their generation of friends in New York and Newport, a number of whom later became important clients for him in Palm Beach. Tessie also introduced Mizner to the architect of Rosecliff, her mansion in Newport. He was the celebrated Stanford White of McKim, Mead & White. Until White was murdered in cold blood a year later while watching a performance at Madison Square Garden’s rooftop theater, Mizner was loosely associated with White’s firm, often doing brownstone renovations and smaller work that White outsourced to him. As Mizner remarked years later, “I worshipped him, for he was my God.” Until the Great War broke out, and business dried up fourteen years later, Mizner operated a successful, if small, architectural practice in New York City and on Long Island, mostly designing country houses for New Yorkers.


In his spare time, he had begun to buy up ancient relics from the financially imperiled Catholic dioceses of Guatemala—furniture, vestments, and crucifixes—to sell to the public, to decorate the homes of his architectural clients, and for his own collection. He described himself as “the greatest Cathedral looter in the world.” A lover of animals, he also bred Chows on Long Island. Flamboyant and bohemian, Mizner was known to shop on the streets of Manhattan clad in Chinese garb, such as a silk dressing gown and pajamas.


The Paris-born Paris Singer, meanwhile, was one of twenty-four children that his father, Isaac Singer, had sired with an assortment of wives and mistresses. The elder Singer bequeathed to his son a large fortune that included, among other grand residential properties, the massive 115-room Oldway Mansion near Torquay in the southwest of England. Singer promptly rebuilt the mansion in the style of the Palace of Versailles. A reckless spender, he allegedly garaged fourteen cars at the estate and kept his yacht, Nille, moored off the coast. At the outbreak of World War I, he lent the entire property to the American Women’s War Relief Fund for the rehabilitation of servicemen wounded in the war. By that time, Singer was estranged from his wife and living in the United States. He also happened to own a four-bedroom cottage on the beach in Palm Beach, which he had bought the year before while vacationing there with Isadora Duncan.


Singer’s tempestuous affair with Duncan had lasted ten years. A celebrated beauty and the progenitor of modern dance, Duncan was politically outspoken, mercurial, unfaithful, and overly fond of alcohol—so much so that Addison Mizner once dubbed her “Is-a-bore-when-drunken.” In 1910 Singer and Duncan had a son together, the second of the two children that she bore out of wedlock with her lovers. In April 1913 both children, Deirdre, six, and Patrick, two, died in a tragic accident on the outskirts of Paris. They were seated with their nanny in a chauffeur-driven car that drove off a bridge into the River Seine. The chauffeur escaped, but the children and their nanny drowned, throwing the lovers’ relationship into a downward spiral.


The couple’s final rupture occurred following one of Duncan’s performances at the New York Metropolitan Opera—at a dinner dance that Singer had hosted in her honor at Sherry’s Hotel. During the meal, he presented her with a diamond necklace, fastening it around her neck as guests applauded. Later in the evening, after a few too many glasses of champagne, she made the mistake of teaching a handsome young man the Apache tango in front of the assembled crowd. Apparently, she danced too intimately for Singer’s taste, because he grew agitated and then enraged. Finally, he stormed over and flung the pair apart. According to Duncan, he then shoved her so hard that she struck a wall and fell to the floor, bruised. “I was so indignant at the injustice of his action that I rose and, tearing the diamond necklace from my throat, flung it in his face.” The diamonds scattered across the ballroom. Speechless with rage, Singer marched out, leaving the rest of the guests to collect the diamonds off the floor. Back at their hotel, the couple fought again, at which point Singer departed for good, abandoning Duncan with no money to pay their hotel bill. She would be forced to pawn her new broken necklace.





Idling outside the train station on that warm January day in 1918 when Paris Singer, Addison Mizner, and the nurse Joan Bates arrived in Palm Beach was a gleaming new Buick touring car that Singer had purchased in advance by telegraph. Singer climbed behind the wheel and drove his guests across a rattling wood bridge and into Palm Beach. Singer’s cook and her husband, who was Singer’s butler-valet, followed behind in a taxi with the luggage.


Over the next few years, Mizner and Singer together would popularize an important new architectural aesthetic that was to alter the Florida development landscape. Socially and culturally ambitious, they were also destined to shake up the staid and money-oriented Palm Beach society. To a large extent, they would mold the town in their own images and anoint themselves gatekeepers of the smart set. Then Mizner would go one step further: he would concoct a scheme to build from scratch a new, even grander and more exclusive Palm Beach where he could reside as the king of the haut monde and the occupant of its most impressive waterfront castle.





In the fifteen years following Henry Flagler’s death, his FEC Railway had opened the peninsula to significant new development, causing the populations of the towns up and down the east coast to expand exponentially. Furthermore, his railroad had brought to Florida a new generation of wealthy young people, as well as the cast of characters who would shape the great land boom to come.


But the rails were only one piece of the infrastructure puzzle needed to set the frenzy of Florida’s land boom in full swing. Good roads would be an essential requirement as well. And the man who did more than anyone else to bring better roads to Florida was a former bicycle racer and race-car driver from Indiana named Carl Graham Fisher, who had arrived in Miami in 1910 already remarkably successful and in possession of a large fortune. Although Fisher could not have been more different temperamentally from Flagler, he, too, was blessed with drive and resourcefulness and would conjure up his own remarkable second act in Florida.
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